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Business of Joint Committee

Chairman: Deputy Kate O’Connell is attending in place of Deputy John Deasy and Senator 
Fintan Warfield is attending in place of Senator Rose Conway-Walsh.  Are the minutes of the 
previous meeting agreed?  Agreed.

I will now deal with correspondence.  The first is from the newly formed group which 
claims to address the issue of non-performing loans, Homeoptions.  It is noted.  The second is 
a pre-budget submission from the Neurological Alliance of Ireland.  It is noted.  The next is a 
draft programme for the interparliamentary conference on stability, economic co-ordination and 
governance in the European Union, which will be held in Helsinki from 30 September to 1 Oc-
tober 2019.  It is noted.  We received a briefing by the Department of Finance on the ECOFIN 
meeting on 9 July.  It is noted.

We have publications from the Central Bank concerning the reprimand and fine by the 
Central Bank of Ireland of Wells Fargo Bank International Unlimited Company for regulatory 
reporting breaches and related governance failings.  We also have a calendar of events for the 
week commencing 8 July 2019.  We have an EU newsletter of 4 July and a World Bank news-
letter.

No Consent, No Sale Bill 2019: Discussion (Resumed)

Chairman: We now turn to the main business of the meeting, which is the No Consent, 
No Sale Bill.  At last Thursday’s meeting, a first draft of the report on the committee’s detailed 
scrutiny of the Bill was circulated, with a request from members to submit written comments 
by noon yesterday, 8 July.  On Friday, an amended version containing the views of the Free 
Legal Advice Centres, FLAC, the Irish Mortgage Holders Organisation, IMHO, and certain 
other changes was also circulated.  A further draft, which attempts to incorporate the comments 
of members has now been circulated.  We now have to deal with the matter.  The Minister is 
present with us.  We have substantial amendments to the Bill.  For the information of members, 
we had invited in a representative of the Garda to deal with insurance fraud.  The witnesses are 
waiting outside.  I hope we will deal with the issue at 2 p.m. because our meeting must finish 
by 3.30 p.m.  We may not be able to deal fully with this matter but we must make a start on it 
because of the amount of information we now have.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Who have we invited in?

Chairman: We invited the Garda Commissioner because at last week’s meeting we pre-
sumed that today’s meeting would just involve signing off on the report but that is not the case 
because substantial changes and amendments have been introduced.  The Garda fraud unit was 
due to come in at 1.30 p.m.  The witnesses are waiting outside.  I am told that it will be 2 p.m. 
or a little after when we commence that part of the meeting.  We can begin our consideration 
of what is before us now.  The meeting itself must finish at 3.30 p.m. or 3.45 p.m. because this 
room is booked by another committee.  We will start proceedings.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: To clarify, are we starting in public or private session?

Chairman: We are in public session.
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Deputy  Michael McGrath: I will start with a general remark.  It is something I wish to say 
and I do not care whether it is in public session or private session.  I do not think the way the 
committee is handling this issue reflects well on it.  I do not believe it is satisfactory and I do 
not believe the procedures have been fair.  A hard copy of the draft report was circulated at our 
meeting on Thursday morning.  A soft copy of that draft was issued later on Thursday morning, 
then on Friday at about 4.15 p.m. another email landed in the inbox with a significantly revised 
draft and a deadline of noon on Monday for amendments to be submitted.  I do not believe that 
is a fair timeline for all of us who rely on staff and the goodwill of others to get our work done.  
I do not believe the time for amendments was adequate.  The report itself looks rushed.  I have 
done my best to add key amendments, as I see it.  Coming here today I was aware the deputy 
Garda commissioner was lined up to come in but I was not sure of the sequencing, and whether 
we would stick at this until we finished it.  I was fearful that the deputy Garda commissioner 
would not be brought in over the course of today’s meeting.  We should have a general discus-
sion on where we are going with this, procedurally.  With all due respect to everyone, we are not 
going to get very far in 20 minutes.  What happens when we park the issue for the day?

Chairman: As Deputy McGrath is aware, I am in the hands of the members and they made 
all those decisions last week.  I have no difficulty if the Deputy wants to change the decisions 
that were made, but that is up to the members.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: If I could respond to that, to be fair, I remember when the 
draft report was circulated on Thursday at the meeting and Deputy Pearse Doherty gave some 
initial feedback about what was missing.  He made some fair points.  I tried to tease out how 
those would be added in.  It seemed to me that there would be an addendum and that we could 
start preparing amendments to the first draft of the report, but the second draft is significantly 
different.  I had to park the first draft and start looking at the second draft and making amend-
ments to it.

Chairman: If Deputy McGrath wants to do it differently, he should propose what he wants 
and then members can agree or disagree.  I do not mind.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: First, I appreciate the work of the secretariat in ensuring the wit-
nesses who were before this committee were included in the scrutiny report, because it is not 
our words, but those of the witnesses who came before us, that make up the scrutiny.  The first 
draft contained only the views of the Department and the Central Bank, so I welcome the efforts 
to ensure the witnesses’ core sentiments were captured in the report.

The point the Chairman made is a valid one.  There was agreement and unanimity that the 
report would be circulated and that we would agree amendments on Monday.  I can understand 
where Deputy Michael McGrath is coming from.  I naively thought that there was a majority 
view in this committee that sales to vulture funds should not happen without the consent of bor-
rowers.  However, I now see clearly that Deputy McGrath’s amendment is about scuttling this 
Bill.  That is what it is.  Let us call it as it is.  It is about scuttling this Bill and ensuring it does 
not go through.  If the Deputy does not support the principle of no consent, no sale he should 
say it outright, because the amendment he has placed before this committee is about making 
sure that this Bill never sees the light of day.  It is a stalling tactic.  He knows the clock is ticking 
for this year and he also knows, as do other members of the committee, that banks are lining up 
many vulture sales of family homes.  They are looking to us to act, and I am very disappointed.  
I was probably naive in thinking, when the principles of this Bill were supported by the majority 
of the Dáil on Second Stage, that politicians would see that through and allow it to go to Com-
mittee Stage where appropriate amendments to address any concerns could be tabled if need be.
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Deputy  Michael McGrath: I reject out of hand what Deputy Pearse Doherty has said.  The 
aim of the process we are involved in here is to assess the evidence we heard and come to a view 
on it.  The Bill passed Second Stage, and anyone can read the speeches I and others made on 
that occasion.  The purpose of a scrutiny phase is for people to listen carefully to the evidence 
and test it.  We are getting into discussion of the amendments themselves at this point, but as far 
as we are concerned, this is not a political game.  It is about getting the right outcome for the 
country, for mortgage holders, and for our financial system as well.  That is why the evidence 
that has been given has to be tested.  None of the people proposing the Bill should fear their 
assertions being tested in an independent and time-bound manner.  That is what we are suggest-
ing.  We are not trying to thwart anything, but given the significance of the issues and potential 
consequences that have been raised, we want the evidence to be tested.  I stand over that.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: I have no problem with any evidence being tested.  However, I 
challenge the bona fides of what Deputy Michael McGrath is saying.  He should allow this Bill 
to progress to Committee Stage, with the independent analysis concluded before that Stage in 
order that we could then shape our amendments.  If he wishes to vote against the Bill at that 
point, so be it.  The reality, when one cuts through everything, is that this is a stalling tactic.  If 
the Deputy stalls this Bill for another three or four months, we will run out of time to bring this 
legislation in.  I give the Deputy the opportunity to show his bona fides by allowing this Bill to 
go to Committee Stage, but not taking Committee Stage until the independent analysis is done.  
That would show that the spirit of the Bill is being supported, but we could also examine further 
evidence if need be before we deal with the committee amendments.  We could decide at that 
point if we wanted the Bill to progress to Report Stage.  Otherwise, this is nothing but a stalling 
tactic and an attempt to scuttle this Bill and stop it in its tracks.

Chairman: I call the Minister.

Minister for Public Expenditure and Reform  (Deputy  Paschal Donohoe): I am unam-
biguously against this Bill.  I believe it will pose the greatest of difficulties for those who are 
paying mortgages at the moment because of what could happen to their mortgages in the future, 
and the rates of interest on their mortgages.  At a time when the economy, small companies and 
families need credit, including citizens who need credit to buy homes, this Bill, if passed, could 
have a highly detrimental effect on the ability to supply new rates of credit to the economy at 
affordable rates of interest.  Given the number of times this committee has acknowledged the 
need for strong, independent regulators, the European Central Bank and the Central Bank of 
Ireland raise a variety of profound concerns in respect of this Bill and, perhaps most signifi-
cantly from a Central Bank point of view, indicate that if our banking system was to ever get 
into difficulty, the passage of this Bill could affect the ability of the Central Bank to support 
Irish banks in times of difficulty.  That is the gravest of issues to be raised in respect of any 
Bill like this one.  It is for all of those reasons that I oppose the Bill, which will not come as a 
surprise to Deputy Doherty.  I want to ensure that people get treated fairly and those who are in 
debt distress are supported.  I also have a duty to people who depend on our banks for credit and 
affordable mortgages.  This Bill does not recognise the need to find that balance.

From a process point of view, I am eager to get the Chairman’s guidance regarding how he 
wants to move this forward.  In that regard, I will simply say that if the Government treated any 
member of the Opposition in the way I believe this committee has been treated in having two 
different reports issued on one day or if I, as a member of the Government, attempted to treat 
this committee like that, the committee would be apoplectic with me, and understandably so.  
We are not talking about slightly different reports being issued.  They are materially different 
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and they require materially different amendments that would have very different consequences 
in respect of what the Dáil could do.  For those reasons, I believe this Bill should not proceed 
to Committee Stage.  At the very least, the course of action proposed, namely, an independent 
analysis of the Bill before it goes to Committee Stage, is essential.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: I attended the same meeting last Thursday.  My understand-
ing was that it was an addendum.  The report we got on Friday was significantly different from 
the report we got on Thursday.  I made known to the clerk of the committee my view that this 
was not proper procedure.  We were told amendments were to be submitted at the same time.  
In terms of the  change in the report, I believe the deadline should have reflected that.  I funda-
mentally disagree with what this Bill proposes but on the procedural side, we required further 
time.  If one reads through the report, one can see it has been changed significantly in various 
areas.  Members were not given sufficient time.  Yesterday’s 12 noon deadline was grossly in-
adequate considering the magnitude of the topic we are dealing with.  Our role as a committee 
is to scrutinise issues in great depth.  If we are doing a report, careful consideration is required, 
and if a new report issues, that will require further careful consideration.  We have not had ad-
equate time.

Chairman: To reflect on what has been said by all concerned, members have a short mem-
ory because they decided the procedure and process at last week’s meeting.  They decided they 
would agree to the timing of the amendments.  I undertook to speak to the clerk, add to the 
report the members already had and issue a draft report.  That draft was to reflect the views 
expressed by two other groups of witnesses who appeared before the committee.  I changed my 
opening remarks in the report because I wanted to change them.  Other parts of the report were 
added to and new parts inserted.  It was up to the members then to take that draft - it is only a 
second draft - and to decide on the changes that they want.  They could come back here today 
and decide that they do not want to do it this week and we will postpone it until next week.  That 
would have been fine.  The reason we are caught in this time issue is because I presumed we 
were coming in to look at the amendments which I did not expect to be as complex as they are, 
but given that they are, we do not have the time to deal with it and it is a matter of postponing 
the consideration of those amendments and of the report itself to another date.  The amendments 
are extensive and need consideration but it is in the hands of the members to decide.  They are 
to decide what to do.  If the decision is to postpone this and debate it on another day, which can 
be tomorrow, after the break, or whenever, the members can make that decision.  To break the 
deadlock and to facilitate the other witnesses who are coming before us, I suggest that we put 
consideration of these amendments and of the report back to another day.

Apart altogether from what is contained in the amendments or the report, I suggest to Dep-
uty Doherty that we will not be able to consider this today in the short time that we have.  It is 
as simple as that.  There was no indication on the day of our last meeting that the amendments 
to the report would be as extensive as they are.  The question is whether the members agree 
to postpone consideration of the report until such time as we have considered every angle and 
aspect of that report and the amendments to it?  Is that agreed?

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: It is obvious that we do not have the time to deal with the amend-
ments today.  This does not take away from the fact that what is happening here at this meeting 
is a clear attempt - and Fine Gael has been consistent in this, I welcome the largest attendance 
ever from that party at a finance meeting here - to protect the vultures and not ordinary people.  
I nonetheless welcome all Fine Gael members in their attempt to stop this Bill.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: That is not correct.
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Deputy  Pearse Doherty: I have never seen five Fine Gael members ever at this committee.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: That is not correct.  We look after the ordinary people.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: We have dealt with issues such as trackers, and insurance-----

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: We look after the ordinary people.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: -----and such matters but when it comes to the vultures, they all 
row in to try to sink this Bill.  They are consistent in that.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: Deputy Doherty’s comments are not reflective of the facts.

Chairman: Excuse me, Senator.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: What I am disappointed and concerned about is that this is an is-
sue of timing.  Deputy McGrath has made a point about independent analysis which could have 
happened at any time.  There is a clock ticking on this Parliament.  We all know this, as does 
the public.  There is also a clock ticking for banks.  My view is that this should be allowed to 
go to Committee Stage, we should be reporting, and an independent analysis should be carried 
out which would be allowed to shape our amendments.

I have made it clear that this Bill is not designed to impact on securitisation.  If that is an 
issue, and if the independent analysis shows that - we have heard this from the Central Bank - it 
will be dealt with on Committee Stage.  Committee Stage is where one allows the spirit of the 
Bill to go ahead and one then fixes it.  I am concerned about timing.  There is an amendment 
here which will scuttle the Bill because of the timing issue but it is fixable if there is a willing-
ness to allow this Bill to go to Committee Stage and concurrently have the independent analysis 
carried out.  We have just finished the scrutiny, having spent months on it, and now people are 
asking for more scrutiny.  If there is willingness to support the concept of this, there is a way 
forward.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: If we are to be practical about this, the House is about to go 
into recess for two months.  If we agree to nothing today, then nothing will happen.  No assess-
ment will be done.  We will come back in the autumn and will still be looking for an indepen-
dent assessment to be done.  The best way for Deputy Pearse Doherty to advance his Bill is for 
him and the committee to agree today to have an independent impact assessment done on the 
Bill, so that over the course of the summer recess, that work can be advanced.  That is the most 
important step that can be taken to ensure that time is not lost.  While I think agreement to send 
a motion to the House would be a matter for the select committee, even if it did, nothing would 
happen until mid-September.  Let us use that time to agree collectively that an independent 
economic assessment of the Bill should be done.  That is the most practical way to ensure that 
this issue does not go flat and die over the summer months.

Deputy  Paschal Donohoe: All that has motivated my colleagues and I in attending this 
committee is to be fair and supportive of all those who depend on our banks.  This Govern-
ment and my party have overseen significant change to reduce mortgage arrears in our country 
to help those who are in difficulty and distressed with debt.  We have overseen a substantial 
number of restructures in our economy and, quarter by quarter, we have seen a reduction in the 
number of mortgage arrears.  That is our track record and I do not need Deputy Pearse Doherty 
to impugn it in any way.  That is what this party and Government have delivered.
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Deputy Doherty is consistent in putting forward ideas that he pretends will solve all difficul-
ties while not acknowledging the substantial consequences of what he is looking to do, which 
were acknowledged as risks by the Central Bank of Ireland and the European Central Bank.  
At a time when poor policy and ill thought-out regulation caused such harm to our economy, 
Deputy Doherty is perpetrating the same behaviour.  My colleagues and I are here to be clear 
that we want to ensure that those who need protection receive it and that those who need our 
banks for credit to buy a home or support the family business are present in this debate too.  
At the very least, an independent cost-benefit analysis needs to be done before this Bill can be 
allowed to move forward, which my Department would be happy to fund but which would be 
independently chosen.  I will not play any role in who will do the work.  That is a decision for 
the committee.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: I agree with the interpretation of the Chair of what we agreed last 
Thursday and how that is being implemented.  What can be seen here is classic politics, with 
Fine Gael’s open defence of the vultures and Fianna Fáil’s slightly less open approach, although 
it still attempts to be effective.  There is an idea that we will just kick this into the long grass.  
Everybody knows where that goes.  There is a clock ticking towards a general election hap-
pening.  We know that even if we pass pre-legislative scrutiny, it is likely that the Government 
will refuse to give a money message, as it has just done for the Petroleum and Other Minerals 
Development (Amendment) (Climate Emergency Measures) Bill 2018.  We should meet on 
Thursday and agree a report on scrutiny at that stage.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: I believe that an independent economic analysis would inform 
the work of the committee on this project and I would be very supportive of it.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: We will clearly not adopt a report on the scrutiny of this Bill 
today.  Many amendments have been proposed by the Minister, Deputy Pearse Doherty and 
Deputy Michael McGrath.  If we do not do anything today, then we will come back in Septem-
ber and look for independent analysis then.  I welcome that the Minister has agreed to fund any 
independent analysis that this committee wants to do and for which it will choose who does the 
analysis, if I understand the Minister correctly.  The Minister would pay for it and we would get 
to pick who would do it.  Let us get on with the independent analysis to look at this Bill because 
there are clearly concerns from the European Central Bank and Central Bank of Ireland.  There 
is clearly support in these Houses for protecting people as well as we can in what we are do-
ing.  Let us get this show on the road so that when we come back in September, we do not then 
decide to do this independent analysis which could take until Christmas.  If anything, Deputy 
Michael McGrath’s amendment about independent analysis speeds up the process rather than 
us kicking it to touch, bringing in the Garda deputy commissioner now, and not doing anything 
until September at the earliest.  That would mean we would not even be considering this going 
to Committee Stage until Christmas.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Let me make two points.  First, on what the Minister said regard-
ing who needs to be present in this debate, his point is correct.  I have been present for all of this 
debate.  If the Minister was in attendance at the debate, he would have heard the Central Bank 
state that dealing with the issue of securitisation allays the majority of its concerns.  That is first 
and foremost.  It has been repeated time and again that the drafting of the Bill is not intended 
to have an impact on the issue of securitisation and that it would be amended or the position 
clarified on Committee Stage.  The Minister can throw out accusations that I am reckless, not 
aware of potential consequences and all the rest and state that the Department is paying for this.  
That is fine.  I am sure we could ask that an independent analysis be carried out in respect of the 



8

JFPERT

effect vulture funds have had on people who have lost their homes.  Perhaps he would not be so 
willing to have such an analysis.

With that parked to one side, the question is how we find a way forward.  As stated, I do not 
fear anything in the context of testing this.  However, it has been months since this passed the 
Dáil and we have had a process of scrutiny in regard to it.  The concern I have is that the inde-
pendent analysis is linked to allowing this to proceed to Committee Stage.  I have no problem 
with the proposal from Deputy Michael McGrath to the effect that the committee agree to an 
independent analysis and we can look at the type of analysis we carry out, which is something 
I would support.  However, I would also ask the committee to allow this Bill to move to Com-
mittee Stage on the understanding that it will not proceed further until the independent analysis 
has been completed and we have had time to reflect on it in order that we might shape whatever 
amendments we wish to bring forward in respect of the report.

Otherwise, and let us call a spade a spade.  What is happening here is about scuttling the 
Bill.  That is the reality.  There is a divergence of opinion and, obviously, Fine Gael has stated 
clearly and consistently that it is opposed to this Bill.  That is its entitlement.  We can do two 
things.  We can agree to carry out an independent analysis, within a timeframe of two months 
to look at what the analysis needs to cover.  Deputy Michael McGrath has captured much of 
that.  We can also complete this report, which would allow us to report to the Dáil with a rec-
ommendation that we proceed to Committee Stage, on the understanding that Committee Stage 
will not happen until the independent analysis, which allows us to be more informed, has been 
completed.

The independent analysis is post scrutiny.  Scrutiny is complete.  Otherwise, this is stalling.  
In my view, this is a fair compromise.  Although it is up to Deputy Michael McGrath to suggest 
whether he supports that.

Chairman: The process is that the report has to be completed and laid before the House.  
The select committee must meet to agree it before it goes to committee.  Given the timeframe, 
we have to set aside time to consider the report anyway before we can trigger a meeting of the 
select committee to decide on it.  Within the few days that are left in the session, that is what 
we are now faced with.  As a result, we are back to square one in terms of the timing and for the 
members to agree to that timing.  If the Minister has offered that the Department would fund 
it, and we can then select someone who will carry out that analysis of the full Bill, not just the 
impact on one side but the impact on the other side, both vulture funds and customers, it is for 
the members to decide.  However, we have a decision to make about finishing the report.  That 
is the first decision that has to be made.  We cannot follow on, as I understand it, unless that is 
done.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: The reality is that the report is not complete and it is not going 
to be completed this side of the recess.  As we can see in the suggested terms of reference that 
I put forward in the amendment in respect of the independent impact assessment, it relates to, 
among other things, consumer protection, the protection of mortgage holders and so on.  Given 
that the report will not be completed this side of the recess, the question upon which the com-
mittee must decide is whether it wants anything at all to happen in the next two months.  I say 
this in good faith.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: The report can be completed.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: When?
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Deputy  Pearse Doherty: We can agree the report on Thursday.  The problem is that Deputy 
McGrath has linked the independent analysis-----

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Thursday’s meeting is a select committee meeting.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: We can schedule a meeting for Thursday.  We can meet next 
week, as we discussed last week.  It is not as if everyone will disappear when the Dáil rises.  The 
report can be completed.  The problem is that Deputy McGrath has put a stop to the progress of 
this because of the independent analysis.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Through the Chair-----

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: I ask Deputy McGrath to lift this barrier and facilitate both the 
Bill and the independent analysis concurrently, that is, to allow the Bill to proceed to Commit-
tee Stage but in such a way that that Stage will not proceed until the independent analysis-----

Deputy  Michael McGrath: What is the benefit of the report coming before the House this 
side of the recess?  What is the advantage of that?  There can be no Committee Stage anyway 
until the House resumes after the recess.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: First, committees meet early in September, whereas the Dáil does 
not meet until about the second or third week of September, so there is a three-week loss for a 
start.  Second, it would allow us to prepare other amendments which are required for this report 
during the summer recess.  There is no disadvantage in proceeding as I have outlined unless 
Deputy McGrath’s intention is to block the Bill.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Or unless Deputy Doherty does not want an independent as-
sessment.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: I am happy with an independent assessment-----

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Great.  Let us agree to it so.  Let us get it done.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: -----but Deputy McGrath should not link it to progress on the Bill 
or allowing it to proceed to Committee Stage.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: The Bill will not progress until September anyway.  That is 
the whole point.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: No.  The next stage is to agree the report.  Deputy McGrath 
should call a spade a spade.  He wants to block the Bill, and the reality is that he is-----

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Deputy Doherty does not want the Bill tested.  That is the 
reality.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: I have already said that I am happy with an independent analysis.  
Deputy McGrath had hoped the legal advice would come back stating the Bill was unconsti-
tutional.  It has not.  He had hoped the Bills Office would say the Bill would need a money 
message.  The office has said the preliminary decision is that it does not.  It is therefore now in 
the Deputy’s hands as to whether we are going to allow banks to sell family homes to vultures 
willy-nilly, as we saw last week.  I am happy with an independent analysis.  I am not happy that 
the Deputy is using that as a stalling mechanism.  There is a sensible solution here.  Allow the 
report to go ahead and allow the Bill to proceed to Committee Stage but without having that 
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Stage until the independent analysis is done.

Chairman: I call Deputy Paul Murphy and Senator O’Donnell.  Then we will make a deci-
sion.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: If Deputy McGrath is serious about wanting the independent report 
and so on, what is wrong with Deputy Doherty’s solution?  We would finish the scrutiny and 
pass a report which would include reference to the need for an independent report.  The Min-
ister has said he will finance that, which means the authors of the report could get working on 
it.  Then, before having Committee Stage, we would have the report in front of us and it would 
inform our work.  What is the rationale to delaying agreeing a scrutiny report until we have this 
technical report?  One would only do that if one wanted just to delay it and delay it and delay 
it.  We can agree both things today, tomorrow, Thursday or whenever else.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: I do not want to go into the report-----

Chairman: Please do not.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: -----but the initial report stated that the committee could not 
come to a definitive position because of the lack of available data.  This independent report will 
inform us in that regard.  That finding was taken out of the second report.  That is a fundamental 
change in the reports.  I put it to Deputy Doherty that if we are serious about acting collectively 
as a committee, we should do our work in a constructive manner.  Deputy McGrath has put 
forward a very reasonable suggestion, that is, that over the summer an independent economic 
analysis on the impact of this report be allowed to take place.  Deputy Doherty’s suggestion 
puts the cart before the horse in saying we start building a house and apply for planning permis-
sion later.  That cannot be done.  What is proposed here will inform our decision-making as a 
committee.  I have pointed out one fundamental change, a significant shift, in the two reports.  
The first report states that it is not possible for the committee to come to a definitive position 
on competing considerations.  I regard that as a reasonable representation of the collective 
views of some committee members.  If we are serious about working collectively, what has 
been proposed by Deputy Michael McGrath is a reasonable suggestion and one that I would 
wholeheartedly support.

Deputy  Paschal Donohoe: Regarding the process to move this forward, I have the memo-
randum of understanding before me, which I understand is the document that has been agreed 
between the Oireachtas and the Government concerning how Private Members’ Bills are to 
be handled.  It lays out at the bottom of page 10 that the Dáil select committee must consider, 
taking account of the scrutiny report, whether the Bill should continue to Committee Stage.  
Examples of grounds on which a Bill could be considered unsuitable to progress to Committee 
Stage include the need for further detailed policy analysis, the identification of major technical 
or legal issues, and the presence of drafting issues that cannot be remedied by way of amend-
ment.  All three of these grounds obtain with the current report.

Chairman: Will the Minister cite them again?

Deputy  Paschal Donohoe: For completeness, there are actually five.  They are: further 
detailed policy analysis; major technical or legal issues identified; significant implementation 
issues identified; drafting issues that cannot be remedied by way of amendment; and an out-
come that does not require legislation.  This information is contained in the first appendix to the 
memorandum of understanding on Private Members’ Bills.  On at least three of these grounds, 
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there is a clear argument as to why the Bill requires further work before it proceeds to Commit-
tee Stage.

Chairman: Let me be clear.  The report we are considering is a draft report.  There are 
significant amendments to it.  Regardless of its contents, the important word is “draft”.  There 
are amendments that we have to consider.  The first decision that has to be made is when we 
will consider them and the report to complete it.  A select committee cannot make its decision 
based on these five points unless it has the report.  For example, we could make a decision to 
consider the report in full next Tuesday or any other day this week.  It would be whenever the 
members decided.  Once that was done, we could proceed with finalising the report.  The select 
committee needs that report to make its decision.  From a procedural point of view, that is the 
way forward.  If members agree, we could begin the process of completing the analysis that 
the Minister referenced while that work was being done.  As such, it would not hold up the 
process.  It would allow us to get into perfecting the report for the select committee.  That is the 
only decision that we have to make.  There is no final report - it is a draft report, which can be 
changed by anyone on the committee and agreed by us all.  We still have to make that report.  
Otherwise, the select committee cannot make its decision.  As such, can we decide on a date for 
consideration of the report and the amendments?  That is all we can decide.  Do members wish 
to do it this week or next week?  I would not mind sitting any day of this week, next week or 
the week after if it helped to get this matter sorted.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: On a point of order, the financial implications section has 
been removed completely between the first and second drafts.  It was section 7, but it seems to 
have disappeared into thin air.  According to paragraph 24 of that section in the first draft, the 
committee noted that a detailed impact assessment of the Bill had not been carried out, thus 
hindering us in our consideration of the Bill.  That was a reasonable conclusion.  As such, is it 
not reasonable to say that the committee can make a decision to defer our consideration of the 
report and the Bill pending the preparation of an independent economic impact analysis and the 
committee’s receipt of same?

Chairman: Members can decide whatever they like.  The sooner we make the decision, the 
better.  All we are doing now is going around the houses.  I call Senator Horkan.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: I propose that we carry out the independent economic analysis 
over the summer and that we take the Minister up on his offer to fund it.  We can decide later 
who is going to do the work and let them at it.  Whatever comes out of that work will ultimately 
influence the committee’s report.  There is no benefit in the committee issuing a press release 
that the Bill has been approved for Committee Stage because nothing is going to happen before 
mid-September.  The committee might sit a week before the Dáil returns but it will certainly not 
sit three weeks in advance of that.  It makes sense to agree to the independent economic assess-
ment because that seems to be the view of most members.  The report arising out of that work 
will influence how the joint committee compiles and finalises its report.  The select committee 
can then make its decision.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: I am just going to say that I think.  This is ridiculous.  It is a 
massive stalling tactic to try to scuttle the Bill.  Senator Kieran O’Donnell spoke about being 
reasonable.  He is being reasonable in the context of doing everything he can to stop the Bill.  
Let us call a spade a spade.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: No.  We agree with a lot of what is in it.
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Deputy  Pearse Doherty: The Senator is entitled to do so.  He is entitled to the opinion he 
holds in respect of the Bill.  I have a different opinion.  I want the Bill to proceed, although it 
does need to be amended.

On Thursday, the select committee will take Committee Stage of another piece of my legis-
lation on insurance contracts.  There is further analysis needed on the part of the Department of 
Finance regarding that Bill but there is reasonableness in the approach of the Minister of State, 
Deputy D’Arcy, in respect of the Bill.  We have agreed that the Bill to which I refer will go to 
Committee Stage.  If it passes Committee Stage, it will fall to Sinn Féin to take Report Stage in 
its Private Members’ time.  I will not take it to Report Stage until that analysis has been done.  
We work together to get things done.  That is the approach we should be taking in this com-
mittee.  The reality is that for some members here this Bill has proceeded further than they ex-
pected.  There is no money message required.  The legal opinion is that it is not unconstitutional 
and, therefore, it now falls into the laps of Deputies and Senators to decide which side they are 
on and how we balance all of this.

There are issues in terms of timing and delays.  The Bills Office has to make a final determi-
nation, which it cannot do until scrutiny is done and the report is laid.  If we do not lay a report 
until September, the Bill is further stalled.  Scrutiny is completed.  If we wanted an independent 
analysis we should have asked for it three months ago.  I do not mind if we have an independent 
analysis.  I have nothing to fear in that regard.  In terms of scrutiny, we agreed on witnesses, 
who should give written statements and who should come before us and so on.  We now have 
an obligation to report.  The fundamental problem is in regard to progress to the next Stage, 
which is Committee Stage, which we all know is where the principles of the Bill are dissected 
and amended, some of it fundamentally and some of it in a minor way.  I agree that we should 
have the independent analysis before that but what is being proposed here is that this Bill cannot 
progress until the independent analysis is complete.  I do not accept that.  I think that it is wrong.  
It is a cute way of trying to scuttle the Bill while at the same time trying to sound reasonable 
because certain members do not want to be the ones who are blamed for doing nothing while 
thousands of people are being thrown to the wolves in the form of banks selling to the vultures. 

Let us finish the scrutiny, following which a report will be produced.  The scrutiny can make 
recommendations in regard to the Bill.  By the way, the three observations by the Minister are 
only his observations.  They are not my view and they are not the view of the legal team either 
in terms of issues being unsurmountable.  There is a key issue here.  We need to lay it before 
the House.  The memorandum of understanding clearly states that the scrutiny report may make 
recommendations on, for example, what should be amended on Committee Stage.  That is why 
I have argued that the issue of securitisation needs to be dealt with on Committee Stage.  It also 
allows the Minister to recommend an independent analysis, which is fair.  The problem is that 
the Minister is suggesting there be no more progress on the Bill until that analysis has been 
completed.  In my view, the reason is that he wishes to stop the Bill now rather than at a later 
stage.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: The scrutiny is not completed until we have finished and 
agreed a report.  Every member of this committee is entitled to table amendments to that report 
and have them duly considered in the normal way.  To be fair, the Chairman is upholding the 
rights of members in that respect.  We have that right and no report can be agreed until those 
amendments have been adjudicated upon.  To answer Deputy Pearse Doherty’s point, if an inde-
pendent impact assessment concludes that his Bill will have a negative impact on interest rates, 
mortgage lending or the availability of credit for small and medium enterprises, I will not sup-
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port it progressing to Committee Stage.  That is the reality.  That is why I want this report done.  
Whether we deal with it now, on Thursday or next week, my position is that an independent 
impact analysis should be completed before the decision is made.  I do not care when we have 
that debate but I believe my position is very reasonable.  The question that must be adjudicated 
upon is whether we want to waste two months and do nothing.  I am proposing that the commit-
tee agree today that an independent impact assessment get under way as soon as is practicable.  
That is what we need to agree today.

Deputy  Paschal Donohoe: Deputy Michael McGrath has made a proposal.  The question is 
whether the committee is happy to accept it and to agree that the independent assessment should 
proceed before the Bill moves to Committee Stage.  On the basis of his earlier comments, I 
believe Deputy Pearse Doherty will have an issue with that.  This is a very significant issue and 
we need to clarify our position.  I propose that we do this on Thursday.

Chairman: The process is such that the joint committee must complete its scrutiny report.  
That has to be done first and foremost.  We have two draft reports, if we want to call them that, 
and the amendments.  We have a meeting on Thursday morning.  We can proceed with our con-
sideration at that meeting because the Bill cannot go to the select committee until the scrutiny 
report has been completed.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: It is the select committee that is meeting on Thursday.

Chairman: We can cancel that meeting because there is no report for the select committee 
to consider.  We have to complete the report.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Thursday’s meeting is set to consider legislation, the Consumer 
Insurance Contracts Bill 2017.

Chairman: We can decide on some parts of the report in the time during which we were 
to discuss the No Consent, No Sale Bill.  We can decide how we will move forward and set a 
date for the completion of that report.  That is what has to be done.  That is the process.  We 
can then arrange a meeting of the select committee to discuss the other Bill so that it will not be 
delayed.  If we make that decision today, the Deputy can propose further dates to consider the 
report at that meeting.  There is an extensive list of amendments to be considered so it will not 
be concluded in half an hour.  I propose that on Thursday morning the joint committee deal with 
the amendments to the report and the process to be followed because it is only on completion 
of that report that the Bill can proceed to the select committee.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: Is the Chairman proposing that this report go to the select 
committee on Thursday?

Chairman: No.  I am saying that the joint committee should continue its consideration of 
the draft report and the amendments on Thursday morning.  That process will not be completed 
on Thursday morning.

Senator  Paddy Burke: Does the report have to encompass the independent analysis?  At 
what stage would it be introduced to the report?

Chairman: The independent analysis-----

Senator  Paddy Burke: It would be good to have the report.

Chairman: There is no report without the analysis.  What are the guidelines for it?  What is 
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being analysed?  There is no report without it.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: Does the committee have to make a decision as to whether we 
would like an independent-----

Chairman: We can make that decision on Thursday morning.  I propose that we now de-
cide to begin consideration of the report that is needed for the select committee on Thursday 
morning.  I wish to make clear to members that a second item of legislation must be dealt with 
and we will not, in my opinion, be able to complete the consideration of all of the amendments 
because of the number involved.  Is that agreed?

Deputy  Michael McGrath: What are the time constraints on Thursday?

Chairman: The committee will meet at 10 a.m.  The meeting of the select committee to 
consider the second item legislation will commence at whatever time the committee so decides.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: The meeting of the select committee could be deferred to later 
in the day.

Deputy  Paul Murphy: I agree with that proposal.

Chairman: If the committee agrees with that proposal, we will talk to Deputy Pearse 
Doherty about the No Consent, No Sale Bill which is to be considered by the select committee.  
There will be meetings of the joint and select committees and, at least, it will be dealt with at 
that stage.  Is that agreed?

Senator  Gerry Horkan: No, it is not agreed.  I wish to ask a question first.  The Chair is 
suggesting we may conclude the report on Thursday.  Will we conclude the report on Thursday?

Deputy  Paul Murphy: We will find out on Thursday.

Chairman: On Thursday, we will decide what to do.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Will there be an opportunity to submit further amendments be-
fore then?

Chairman: Yes.

Deputy  Paschal Donohoe: When will such further amendments be circulated?  When is 
the deadline for them to be submitted?

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: They should be submitted by tomorrow.

Chairman: If there are further amendments to be submitted, it would be fair to allow them 
be submitted between now and the close of business on Wednesday.  At least, we are starting 
the process, otherwise we will be talking about it again and again.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: At what time will we meet on Thursday?

Chairman: We will meet at 10 a.m. on Thursday to begin consideration of the report and 
the amendments.  Is that agreed?

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Is a deadline of close of business tomorrow for amendments 
acceptable to the secretariat, which will need to process the amendments?
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Chairman: I am advised that there will not be enough time to turn around amendments sub-
mitted by close of business tomorrow for Thursday morning.  There are enough amendments to 
consider anyway.  We will not finish it that day.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: That is fine.  Is there a facility for further amendments to be 
submitted?  If so, what is the deadline?

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Would it be possible to set a deadline of 1 p.m. tomorrow for the 
submission of amendments?  Would that allow sufficient turnaround time?

Chairman: It would.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Obviously, we will try to submit them in advance of the deadline.

Insurance Fraud: Discussion

Chairman: From An Garda Síochána, I welcome Deputy Commissioner John Twomey, 
Chief Superintendent Pat Lordan and Mr. Andrew McLindon, director of communications.  The 
committee will now take the opening statement of the deputy commissioner.

Mr. John Twomey: I thank the Chairman and committee for their invitation to attend today.

By way of an introduction, I reiterate that An Garda Síochána is determined to tackle insur-
ance fraud.  It has and will continue to invest significant time and resources in doing so.  I have 
provided an opening statement and propose to run through it in summary form. 

By way of background, we have been actively involved in the Government’s cost of insur-
ance working group.  Commissioner Harris has met the Minister of State at the Department 
of Finance, Deputy D’Arcy, on a number of occasions.  Also, senior officers from the Garda 
National Economic Crime Bureau have actively engaged with industry groups and individual 
companies for several years.  I am joined here today by Chief Superintendent Pat Lordan who 
is in charge of the bureau and leads our work in the area.

For our part, An Garda Síochána is focused on identifying anyone involved in the making of 
bogus insurance claims and to maximise the potential to initiate prosecutions.  We believe that 
the best way of doing this is through a co-ordinated approach on a countrywide basis.  This can 
best be seen from recent activity under Operation Coatee.  We launched the operation in April 
of this year and it is focused on the prevention and detection of insurance related fraud and as-
sociated crimes.  Recently we had a specific day of action that focused on more than 20 insur-
ance claims that we believed may be fraudulent and which, in some cases, had already involved 
payment being made to claimants.  Investigations carried out by the Garda National Economic 
Crime Bureau indicate that a number of targets in this operation have submitted multiple claims 
and in many circumstances while using false identities.  The suspected bogus claims result 
from false claims of injury sustained through slips and falls.  During the course of the searches 
additional evidence was gathered with a view to submitting files to the Director of Public Pros-
ecutions.  The detectives from GNECB also seized high-value cars and jewellery worth more 
than €300,000 along with a substantial amount of documentation and financial records.  Ad-
ditionally, on the same day, a number of search warrants were executed at other locations.  All 
evidence gathered on the day of action continues to be analysed as we speak.
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On an ongoing basis we work to continue to make improvements to our processes, systems 
and resourcing.  Working closely with Insurance Ireland, updated guidelines for insurance en-
tities on how to report insurance fraud to An Garda Síochána were developed, co-signed and 
published by the GNECB last year. 

In October 2018, the Police Using Leading Systems Effectively, PULSE, was updated and 
insurance fraud and other categories of economic crime were introduced as separate crime cat-
egories.  This will enable An Garda Síochána to monitor trends in the area of economic crime 
and plan an appropriate response.  

At meetings between Commissioner Harris and the Minister of State, Deputy D’Arcy, both 
parties agreed that private funding of a specialist insurance fraud unit was not the preferred op-
tion.  However, discussions have commenced on possible opportunities to provide additional 
support in the areas of IT software, training and analysis.  Commissioner Harris has also in-
formed the Minister of State that, in line with the overall Garda strategy, the GNECB will focus 
on major organised frauds, including insurance cases and individual insurance frauds at the 
centre, and the more complicated investigations will be conducted by the national unit while 
divisional units will focus on the less complicated cases with either support from the national 
unit or additional training being provided to them.  

This division-led approach that we talk about is currently being trialled as part of our di-
visional policing model that is being rolled out in four Garda divisions around the country.  In 
addition, the national unit will co-ordinate all ongoing investigations throughout the country.  
As the work is ongoing, we can begin to get an idea of the information available and the extent 
of ongoing investigations.

It is important that there be sufficient expertise at divisional level.  This year an additional 
50 gardaí have been trained.  In the past two years over 130 have been trained throughout 
the country.  An additional six sergeants and six gardaí were provided for the Garda National 
Economic Crime Bureau to work in this and other areas related to fraud.  We will extend the 
competition for places in the bureau and expect it to be run in the second half of the year, 
with additional resources provided for Chief Superintendent Patrick Lordan and his team.  In 
the meantime, we continue to develop in-house expertise in investigating insurance related 
fraud and provide training for the additional gardaí, detective gardaí and detective sergeants.  
They receive fraud training as part of their induction training.  Throughout the course expe-
rienced fraud investigators provide presentations on both legislation and fraud investigation 
techniques relevant to economic crime investigations, including the investigation of insurance 
related fraud.  Representatives from the private sector, including the insurance industry, are also 
invited to contribute to the course, thereby providing specialist insight into relevant insurance 
sector related topics.

The report on the cost of motor insurance recognises that preventing insurance fraud is not 
the responsibility of one party alone.  This was re-emphasised at the fraud round-table discus-
sion hosted by the Department of Finance.  At the discussion An Garda Síochána committed 
to engaging closely with the insurance industry and meet regularly with Insurance Ireland’s 
anti-fraud forum to discuss and act on ongoing issues.  The enhanced co-operation will be very 
important in the future.

I will conclude by reiterating my opening comments.  I reassure members of the committee, 
the insurance industry and the members of the public watching that An Garda Síochána will 
continue to deal with insurance related fraud and that we continue to take this matter very seri-



9 JULY 2019

17

ously.  I re-emphasise the importance of insurance companies and individuals reporting poten-
tial fraud to An Garda Síochána.  As I said, we are determined to identify insurance fraudsters 
and seek their prosecution.  We commit to doing everything possible to achieve that objective.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: I welcome Mr. Twomey and Mr. Lordan.  What is the number 
of insurance related fraud incidents reported by either insurance companies or members of the 
public to date?

Mr. John Twomey: There are various figures.  If we are talking about fraud in its broadest 
context, the number is probably in the region of 1,500 to 2,000.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: In what period?

Mr. John Twomey: In the past two to three years.  If we narrow it to the issue of bogus 
claims-----

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: That is what I am really on about.

Mr. John Twomey: We investigate all cases of fraud reported to us.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: What type of fraud is covered in the figure of 1,500 to 2,000 
incidents reported in the past three years?

Mr. John Twomey: It covers all types of fraud.  It is any type of fraud the economic crime 
bureau is investigating.  It could be direct-----

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: I want to deal specifically with insurance fraud.  How many 
incidents of insurance fraud have been reported?  I refer specifically to bogus claims.

Mr. John Twomey: Since last October there have been in the region of 50 reported inci-
dents.  If we extend it to the past three years, there have been in the region of 230 to 250 re-
ported incidents.  Within those 250 claims, there could be a number of defendants.  There may 
be an individual accident with three or five people in a car.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: Some of the claims could involve three people in a car.

Mr. John Twomey: Yes.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: Over the last nine or ten months there were approximately 50 
in total.

Mr. John Twomey: Yes.  There were approximately 50 of the type we are talking about 
today.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: Would these have come directly from the insurance compa-
nies?

Mr. John Twomey: Yes.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: Do they come from insurance companies across the board or 
do they come from specific insurance companies?

Mr. John Twomey: They come from companies across the board.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: To what areas do they relate?
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Mr. John Twomey: They relate to bogus accident claims and slips and falls.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: How many of those bogus insurance claims are currently un-
der investigation and have not yet been cleared?

Mr. John Twomey: All 50 are still ongoing.  They are at different stages of investigation.  
We are awaiting decisions with regard to prosecution for some while others are still in the early 
stages of investigation.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: Who in An Garda Síochána investigates these cases?

Mr. John Twomey: They are investigated by a combination of the Garda National Econom-
ic Crime Bureau and divisional units under the direction and control of the local superintendent.  
An assessment of the complexity is made by Detective Chief Superintendent Pat Lordan and his 
team.  The more complex cases are dealt with by the central national unit, in which a team deals 
with such issues, while the others are dealt with locally.  A detective superintendent is appointed 
as our liaison with the industry.  He liaises-----

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: Who is that liaison?

Mr. John Twomey: Detective Superintendent Michael Cryan.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: How long has he been in that post?

Mr. John Twomey: He has been in the post for a number of months.  He had a predecessor.  
He is newly appointed to the Garda National-----

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: It is not a new post.  It has always existed.

Mr. John Twomey: That is correct.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: How long does it typically take to carry out an investigation?  
I am interested in that.  Apart from the 50 cases that have arisen since October, are others still 
under investigation?  What is the total number of cases under investigation?

Mr. John Twomey: The total number of cases in this area over recent years is in the region 
of 220 or 230.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: Are those cases still under investigation?

Mr. John Twomey: Some have been through the courts and have been concluded.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: I am more interested in knowing how many are still under 
investigation.

Mr. John Twomey: I do not know the specific number that are still under investigation.  I 
can say that all the complaints we receive are investigated to a conclusion, either to the courts 
or as far as we can bring them.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: How long do they typically take to investigate?

Mr. John Twomey: They generally take three to six months, but it depends on the complex-
ity and the number of people involved.  Some of these cases are not straightforward.  It may 
depend on timelines, when we are told about the incident, and when they happened.  Sometimes 
events are reported to us that occurred a number of years ago.  That adds to the complexity and 
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lengthens the timelines.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: They take approximately six months.  The number of cases 
seems relatively low.  Does Mr. Twomey regard that figure as low?  We hear about major bogus 
claims and fraud but the number being advised to An Garda Síochána appears relatively low.  
Does Mr. Twomey regard it as low?

Mr. John Twomey: It must be seen in the context of the other demands placed on An Garda 
Síochána.  We face greater demands in other areas.  Even within the area of fraud covered by 
the Garda National Economic Crime Bureau and Detective Chief Superintendent Lordan, this 
area does not represent the biggest volume of crime being investigated.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: We hear suggestions that An Garda Síochána should have a 
designated section to deal with insurance fraud only.  Why has the Garda Commissioner not 
supported such a proposal?  Why is he going with a divisional-led model?  Will Mr. Twomey 
expand on that?  When he is talking about that, will he expand on the number of personnel 
within An Garda Síochána who have skills in investigating insurance fraud?  He has made ref-
erence to such personnel, but what is the level of expertise within the organisation in respect of 
accountants and forensic people who have the skill sets to carry out such investigations?  What 
form do these investigations take?  On the more specific macro point, why is An Garda Sío-
chána not establishing a specific unit to deal with the scandal of insurance fraud?

Mr. John Twomey: I will answer that question in a number of ways, if I may.  First, the pro-
posal was for a privately funded insurance unit within An Garda Síochána.  An Garda Síochána 
wants to provide a policing service to all members of the public, not just those who provide 
funding.  We believe our obligation is to provide the service that is needed and not necessarily 
a service just to those who come forward and pay.  That is as much an ethical issue as anything 
else.  We in An Garda Síochána need to police the country and we will meet the demands, what-
ever they are.

This leads me to the second point.  We apply resources depending on the demand.  We are 
satisfied that there are sufficient resources to deal with the demands we have talked about or the 
number of claims we have talked about.  As I said at the outset, this area of demand is not the 
largest of the Garda National Economic Crime Bureau.  The chief superintendent dedicates the 
resources in that area.  Resources are constantly kept under review.  I talked about the additional 
resources that would be provided before the end of the year.  These are constantly under review.  
The chief superintendent, through his assistant commissioner, will come to An Garda Síochána 
and make a business case for additional resources.  That is why the decision has been taken that 
somewhere in the region of 35 to 50 additional personnel will be provided to the Garda National 
Economic Crime Bureau between now and the end of the year.  This is to meet the demand that 
the chief superintendent has identified.  I refer to the number we are satisfied are required to 
meet the additional demand.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: On insurance fraud, a figure was given of 1,500 to 2,000 over 
the past three years.  What was the specific number?  There have been 50 insurance fraud mat-
ters arising since last October.  What percentage of all fraud does insurance fraud comprise?

Mr. John Twomey: The figure we have for the nine-month period is in the region of 1,500.  
It is out of that number that we are dealing-----

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: Mr. Twomey is saying that only 50 of the 1,500 cases relate 
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specifically to insurance fraud.

Mr. John Twomey: Yes.  I refer to the particular issue we are dealing with today.  There 
may be other cases in consideration in respect of which we have information but have not yet 
completed our assessment, but I would not expect the number to increase to any great extent 
over what we are talking about here today.

I will go on to the other part of the question.  It is important to try to understand the structure 
we use.  We have a national unit that sits at the centre.  It deals with the more complex cases.  
There may be an international element or various strands that involve people throughout the 
country.  In these types of cases, the chief superintendent and his team will direct and lead.  
They will provide assistance and expertise to a chief superintendent or superintendent at a di-
visional level in the less complicated cases.  The more straightforward ones are investigated by 
individual detective sergeants or detective gardaí.  All of our detective sergeants and detective 
gardaí are trained on fraud.  They get basic training on fraud.  Over recent years, in the region 
of 180 gardaí have got specific training on insurance related fraud.  Therefore, we have a tiered 
response.  We have detective gardaí at the basic level.  At the next level, the figure is in the 
region of 180.  At the national unit, Detective Chief Superintendent Lordan has in the region of 
100 resources available to him.  As I said earlier, the business case for increasing the resources 
has been approved.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: Demand led.  Representatives of the insurance companies 
were before us last week.  Some of them stated they reckoned up to 20% of claims were fraud 
related, yet we find that the fraud related complaints referred to An Garda Síochána account for 
only 3% of what happened since last October.  There were 1,500 in total, and only 50 of those 
related to insurance fraud.  There is inconsistency between what we are told by some of the 
insurance companies and the reality of the complaints.  Deputy Commissioner Twomey might 
respond on whether it could arise that it was decided to not allow complaints on fraud received 
to be regarded as fraud.  Does the figure of 50 fraud matters comprise the cases An Garda Sío-
chána deemed to be fraud?  What is the total number of fraud insurance complaints that were 
received, some of which might not be deemed to have been in the category of insurance fraud?  
I am looking for the total number of reports here.

Mr. John Twomey: I do not have that figure available to me here today.  I do not imagine 
that there is a considerable increase over that number because the threshold is on the balance 
of probabilities.  If it is probable that a crime has been committed, we will accept and record it 
as a crime committed and will commence investigation.  That is different to the investigation, 
which is on a different balance of probabilities.  The threshold for the recording of a crime is a 
different threshold than that for the prosecution of the crime.

We have a lot of liaison with the insurance industry and have a very good working relation-
ship with it in dealing with all these claims because we are as intent as is the industry on ensur-
ing that there is no fraud committed.

Senator  Kieran O’Donnell: If the demands on An Garda Síochána from reported insur-
ance fraud increased significantly, would the force then look at the need for a specific, dedicated 
insurance fraud unit within An Garda Síochána?

Mr. John Twomey: We would then look at increasing our capacity to deal with it.  Going 
back to the original question of looking for a privately funded unit, the answer to that would 
be “no”.  We would, however, be looking to provide additional resources in the specific area.  
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As we would in any area where there is demand, we are always looking to provide sufficient 
resources to ensure that we investigate and provide an appropriate response to the community.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Can I just take the witnesses through a couple of points for clari-
fication?  On fraud, what is the difference between fraud and exaggerated claims, a term that is 
being used now, or are exaggerated claims fraud?

Mr. Pat Lordan: I see no difference between an exaggerated claim and fraud.  The view of 
the insurance industry is the same.  This is not right across the board, where some parts of the 
insurance industry may say it was a mistake or someone was trying to claim little bit more, by 
accident.  My view is that if one has a claim for €100 worth of water damage, and change it up 
to €1,000, that is fraud.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: If a person was in a car accident and claimed that he or she was 
injured beyond what the person was, would that be seen as fraud?

Mr. Pat Lordan: Absolutely, but the difficulty we have with both of those scenarios is prov-
ing it.  Where the householder has an invoice or receipt for €1,000, it is quite difficult then to 
show that it is fraud.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Yes.

Mr. Pat Lordan: Likewise, with a lot of these fraudulent claims, they represent minor 
enough injuries, like whiplash, for example.  It is quite difficult for us to prove, when we inves-
tigate such a case, that the person does not have whiplash.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: The guidance on reported suspected fraudulent insurance claims 
within An Garda Síochána’s code of practice with the insurance industry states “an offence of 
deception relating to exaggerated claims takes place” and it goes on to say where it takes place 
and should be reported.  Should claims that are believed to be exaggerated and which are de-
fined as fraud be reported?

Mr. Pat Lordan: Absolutely, yes.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Is Mr. Lordan familiar with section 19 of the Criminal Justice 
Act 2011 on disclosure?

Mr. Pat Lordan: I am, yes.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: What onus does that place on me or on any other person, if I am 
aware of a fraudulent claim, because fraud is one of the relevant categories in that legislation?

Mr. Pat Lordan: There is an onus on the person to report it, if the person knows that the 
information that he or she has can assist An Garda Síochána in an investigation, in showing that 
somebody else in the room committed or carried out an act of fraud.  There is a list of offences 
covered by it.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: What is the position if I do not report it?

Mr. Pat Lordan: There can be an offence.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Is it a criminal offence?

Mr. Pat Lordan: It is.
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Deputy  Pearse Doherty: This has a maximum potential prison term of five years.

Mr. Pat Lordan: My own view on this -  I presume the Deputy is talking in particular about 
an insurance company here - is that if one is an insurance company or bank and wants to report 
a fraud or crime, one should report it in the normal way that any crime should be reported, other 
than relying on the section 19 report.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Section 19 of the Criminal Justice Act makes it a criminal offence 
for the insurance industry and the entity - including possibly the person but definitely the entity 
- not to report an issue of fraud.

Mr. Pat Lordan: That is correct.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: We have the insurance industry giving us the spin about the 
15,000 cases.  Obviously, one can extrapolate or argue that they conducted - if they genuinely 
believe that - 15,000 criminal offences under section 19 of the Criminal Justice Act 2011.

Mr. Pat Lordan: One would have to see the scenarios with which people in the industry 
are faced when they land on their desk.  We always say that one can look at a case and one can 
suspect all one likes, but if one has no evidence or proof that this happened, there is no real point 
in starting an investigation where one has nothing to show.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: That is from-----

Mr. Pat Lordan: I always use the example of the shopkeeper who thinks that Johnny stole a 
bar of chocolate but he has no idea whether he did; he just did not like the look of Johnny going 
out the door.  There is no onus on that shopkeeper there to report that gentleman for the theft of 
the chocolate because-----

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Okay.

Mr. Pat Lordan: -----it is a mere suspicion at the back of his mind that this may be the 
person who did it.  In the insurance industry-----

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: That is fair enough in relation to suspicion as opposed to stating 
facts.  When an insurance industry says then that there are 15,000 cases, that is a different mat-
ter.

Mr. Pat Lordan: Yes, that is a different matter.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Are people ever prosecuted under section 19 for failing to inform 
the Garda of activity that would be relevant in the prosecution of a crime, particularly one of 
fraud?

Mr. Pat Lordan: I do not have the details of any prosecutions here but I know they are very 
rare, if they are there.  It is quite new legislation; it has been there since 2011.  It is used quite a 
lot in the auditing and accounting world and the legal profession to report matters to us.  We see 
quite a substantial amount of reporting.  The insurance and banking industries make significant 
use of it.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Okay.

Mr. Pat Lordan: It is rare when we come across cases where someone should have reported 
something and they did not.  The onus is on them to report it and normally the entities we deal 
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with are quite good at reporting matters.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: When we look at the figures, 50 cases have been reported.  I do 
not believe the spin from the industry about the 20% figure, which is somewhat debunked now 
in the public mind.  Equally, I do not believe it is as low as 50 cases.  What is the responsibility 
in this regard?  Is it on the balance of probability that they have an onus to report?

Mr. Pat Lordan: Yes, I would say so.  They have to suspect that a crime has been commit-
ted and that they have information to show that.

In fairness to the industry, the 50 cases we talk about could involve quite a substantial num-
ber of claimants in each one, as was pointed out by Deputy Commissioner Twomey.  There 
could be four or six.  We have, for example, one case in which 14 people are involved in one 
claim.  That could bring the figures up closer to what has been quoted recently as being 600 or 
700 cases.  It is still a long way, as the Deputy states, from the 20% figure.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: If the industry reports a claim, they also have to follow it through.  
They have to appoint somebody, work with the Garda district inspector, report it to national 
level, and stick with the claim, which creates a burden on the industry.

Mr. Pat Lordan: It does, but in fairness to the industry over the last number of years, the 
companies have all increased their workload dramatically in that area.  Since I took up my cur-
rent position four years ago, most of the companies have taken on the challenge of challenging 
these claims.  I believe that they are succeeding in many more cases that probably never reach 
us.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: If they are challenging them because they think they are fraudu-
lent, they have a responsibility, regardless of their challenge, to report that to the Garda under 
section 19 of the Criminal Justice Act.  What about the cases we hear of where someone is in 
court, he or she has been involved in an accident - or may not have been involved where it may 
have been staged or whatever or he or she has exaggerated the claim - where the judge does 
not award any compensation or money to him or her and her or she walks out the front door?  
People will state that such individuals were chancing their arms submitting claims which, in 
fairness, the industry challenged and the judges involved found for the industry by deciding 
that they were not valid.  However, the Garda does not go knocking on such people’s doors to 
investigate them for fraud.

Mr. Pat Lordan: This is a matter that arose several times at the cost of insurance working 
group.  There were different versions of how it was reported.  In some cases, it was reported 
to the Director of Public Prosecutions and other times to the local Garda station.  We told the 
industry that if the insurer’s solicitor is in court and is aware of the facts, the company should 
be reporting it as a fraudulent claim.  We do not have a garda in court to witness what goes on 
there.  The onus should be on the solicitor or representative of the insurance company who is in 
the court to identify a potentially fraudulent case.  We are getting some of those.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: The Garda may be getting some of them but the point is that 
where what happens in such cases is not reported, those involved are getting away with commit-
ting crimes.  I take the point that the Garda does not supervise the courts and so on.  The Houses 
of the Oireachtas place the onus on the insurance industry and the companies involved to pass 
the relevant information to the Garda.  In cases where it is beyond the balance of probability 
and where there has already been adjudication in a court of law, is failure to report not contrary 
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to section 19 in terms of open disclosure?

Mr. Pat Lordan: We would have to look at each case.  Our burden of proof is that some-
thing must be beyond reasonable doubt in order to allow us to prosecute a criminal case.  We 
have a couple of those cases on our books at the moment.  When they arrive as complaints, the 
feeling we get is that they are very easy cases to prosecute.  However, when we dig into it we 
find that in the civil court in which the insurance company is dealing with it, the complainant 
is more than likely obliged to get into the witness box and can be challenged on the evidence 
he gives in court.  In a criminal case, he is not obliged to say anything to us when we knock on 
his door.  I know of cases where gardaí have called to somebody’s door and have been told that 
the person has nothing to say in respect of the case.  Often, there is not sufficient evidence to 
make an arrest.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: I am not talking about the individual who is trying to scam.  I 
am talking about the individual who tried to scam, who has walked out of the courthouse after 
losing the case but has not really lost anything and the insurance company has not reported that 
to the Garda.  That is a criminal offence.

Mr. John Twomey: I think in the circumstances they have to be assessed on an individual 
basis.  These are cases are dealt with in the civil court, which is different, as we all know, from 
the criminal court.  An assessment has to be made by the insurance company as to whether, 
on the balance of probability, it believes that a crime has been committed.  In those instances, 
the company involved must forward the matter to An Garda Síochána for investigation.  In the 
context of our ongoing liaison-----

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: It does not say anything about the balance of probability or any-
thing like that there.  The onus is on the insurance company according to the legislation, which 
states, “A person shall be guilty of an offence if he or she has information which he or she 
knows or believes might be of material assistance in preventing the commission by any other 
person of a relevant offence or securing the apprehension, prosecution or conviction of any 
other person for a relevant offence.”  The word “person” in that context can refer to a company.  
A relevant offence is defined as fraud.  Where a judge adjudicates that a claim is not valid and 
the insurance company representatives just go back to the office and continues working, the 
company in question has information that it knows or believes might be of material assistance 
in the prosecution or apprehension of an individual.

We need to be careful here because they are crimes, obviously.  However, this needs to 
stop.  We cannot have this revolving door system.  There is also a responsibility on the Garda to 
impress on the insurance industry that it has a responsibility and that if it is not reporting those 
cases, it is committing an offence.  The Garda needs to be willing to step up and prosecute the 
individuals or companies in that regard.

Mr. John Twomey: The protocol we have signed with the industry is intended to ensure 
there is clarity around the rules and regulations and the working relations between us.  We have 
a liaison officer with the industry.  An Garda Síochána has taken many steps to bring clarity to 
the issue.  As I said twice in my opening statement, where we receive a complaint of fraud, we 
will investigate it.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: On that, how many of the 50 complaints received from the insur-
ance industry have been withdrawn?  Can Mr. Lordan break them down into categories?  How 
many were found to be worthy of investigation?
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Mr. John Twomey: Those 50 have been entered in and are being investigated as we speak.  
They are being actively pursued.  They are not withdrawn.  As far as we are concerned, we are 
happy that a complaint has been properly grounded and we are conducting a full investigation.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: All of them are live cases.

Mr. John Twomey: Yes.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: We had a suggestion in the cost of insurance working group that 
private industry would fund a section of the Garda.  I immediately objected to it.  Regardless of 
who is paying, private money and the Garda should not mix because of the independence of the 
Garda and everything that goes with it.  I am glad that is off the table.  We wasted a lot of time 
in respect of it.  However, I am very concerned at Mr. Twomey’s statement that discussions are 
commencing with the Department of Justice and Equality on possible opportunities where the 
insurance industry may be asked to provide financial support in areas that could assist insurance 
fraud investigations, such as IT, software, training and analysis.  Is that not just another version 
of private money mixing with the Garda?  Why are we going down this road?

Mr. John Twomey: To be clear, we are not talking about private money being used in any 
way to resource An Garda Síochána.  If we consider the amount of information the industry has 
available to it which may be of assistance to us in progressing our work, there is merit in some 
of that being discussed and pursued.  Using our crime database, we do a lot of work through 
analytics to help us be more intelligent and smarter in how we go about our business.  That is 
really what we are talking about here.  We are considering whether we can use the information 
currently available to enable us to be more effective in terms of reducing the opportunity to 
commit crime and improving the possibility of bringing people to justice.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: While I welcome that clarification, the opening statement says: 
“However, discussions have commenced with the Department of Justice on possible oppor-
tunities where the insurance industry may be asked to provide financial support”.  It refers to 
financial support.

Mr. John Twomey: It is in the context of the areas I talked about, so as to provide the fi-
nancial support to provide the information, data and knowledge around that and to enable us to 
do it.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Is it providing the data or providing financial support?

Mr. John Twomey: There will be a cost incurred in providing that data for us.  We will want 
those data in a certain format to enable us to work with them.  There is no difference between 
the two of them.  To be clear, we are making a very clear distinction.  We are not in favour of a 
privately funded unit in this area.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: I know the Garda is not in favour of a privately funded unit but-
----

Mr. John Twomey: We do not believe we are crossing the divide in terms of what we are 
suggesting.  If there is work to be done to provide information in a certain format to enable us 
to do our job, we think it should be done.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: The insurance companies will do it at their end.  It is not a case 
that they will gift the Garda IT systems or software.
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Mr. John Twomey: No.  It is the data we want, in a format we can use and that is compat-
ible with our systems.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: I am a strong advocate of an insurance fraud squad as a separate 
unit.  The unit we are talking about, the Garda National Economic Crime Bureau, GNECB, has 
a number of subdivisions.  I believe there are six in total.  Which one does fraud fall under?

Mr. Pat Lordan: Fraud falls under the remit of the serious economic crime units.  We have 
four units dealing with that.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Four units for serious economic crime, and-----

Mr. Pat Lordan: They primarily deal with all serious economic crime, from investigations 
worth a couple of million euro right down to wrongdoing on the part of an accountant, solicitor 
or policeman.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: Is one of the four units in that section assigned to insurance 
fraud?

Mr. Pat Lordan: Not in its entirety, because those units deal with a vast array of different 
frauds.  They deal with more than 20 different areas of fraud, including investment fraud and 
account takeovers.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: What is the staffing complement?

Mr. Pat Lordan: There are four gardaí and one sergeant in each unit.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: That makes 20 individuals.  Could Mr. Lordan make a guessti-
mate of the portion of the work accounted for by insurance fraud?

Mr. Pat Lordan: There are three very substantial investigations at the moment.  They entail 
almost 60 different claims.

Deputy  Pearse Doherty: I am hard on the insurance industry, but it tells us there is no 
point in reporting fraud to the Garda because it does not have the resources to deal with it.  We 
hear this from other actors as well.  We are told that unless the report concerns something major 
and organised, like the cases Mr. Lordan refers to involving multiple claims and fake identities, 
it will not be investigated thoroughly.  It is probably next to impossible to do so with only 20 
gardaí.

Mr. Pat Lordan: Those units investigate the more complex cases.  The less complex ones 
are investigated throughout the country.  In recent years there have been many successes in 
investigating all types of insurance fraud throughout the country.  It is not true that we are not 
capable or do not have the capacity.  Some 132 gardaí have been trained over the past three 
years alone, 44 every year.  They are not all dedicated to fraud 100% of the time.  That is the 
world we live in.  We must accept the challenges in front of us.  The economic crime bureau 
cannot dedicate them to one type of fraud 100% of the time.  Tomorrow morning a company 
might lose €2 million, in which case we will try our best to get that money back overnight or in 
the next few days.  We have to prioritise what is in front of us.  Those three investigations are 
working well and will progress further in the next few months.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: I welcome Deputy Commissioner Twomey and Detective 
Chief Superintendent Lordan.  I thank them for the opening statement and for being here.  I will 
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start with the issue of prosecutions and convictions for insurance fraud.  It has been impossible 
to get any data from the Courts Service or the Minister.  The Minister of State, Deputy D’Arcy, 
has referred to some cases anecdotally.  Do the witnesses have any data on the number of con-
victions there have been in Ireland in respect of insurance fraud under the Civil Liability and 
Courts Act 2004?

Mr. John Twomey: If possible, I think it would be best to provide a written note on that.  I 
can cite numbers but it is not a straightforward answer.  If we conduct an investigation in one 
area it might lead to a prosecution in a slightly different but related area.

Chairman: I ask the witnesses to provide us with some background material on that.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: To be clear, I am referring to offences under section 29 of that 
Act.  What prosecutions have been brought and what convictions have been secured?  It has 
proven very difficult to get any data whatsoever on that front.

I refer to the role of the Director of Public Prosecutions, DPP, in this area.  Let us say an 
insurance claim is thrown out of court on the basis of false and exaggerated information being 
provided.  Is that ever referred to the Garda by the justice concerned or is it passed directly to 
the DPP?  How does that work?

Mr. John Twomey: It has happened on some occasions.  If a complaint is made to the Di-
rector of Public Prosecutions, it is then forwarded to us.  However, the majority of cases come 
to us via insurance companies.  That is the mechanism through which they come to us.  I would 
have to check our records to be 100% sure. 

Deputy  Michael McGrath: That is fine.  Perhaps Mr. Twomey could check and come back 
to the committee.  Without going into numbers he does not have to hand, is it the case that there 
have been prosecutions and convictions in respect of insurance fraud?

Mr. John Twomey: Absolutely.  There have been convictions for insurance fraud.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Can Mr. Twomey provide the details to the committee?

Mr. John Twomey: Absolutely.  I just need to ensure the figures are accurate.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: That is fine.  We hear some insurance companies, as well as 
reports on “Prime Time” or in the newspapers, refer to fraud tourism.  It is claimed that Ireland 
has been identified as a soft target by gangs which come here and stage accidents to benefit from 
what is regarded as a generous claims environment and system of awards.  Is there any evidence 
of that?  Are any of those cases being actively investigated?  Is there fraud tourism?

Mr. John Twomey: There are cases where claims are exaggerated and people attempt to 
manipulate the system.  The answer to that question is “yes”.  Some of those cases are part of 
the investigations undertaken by Detective Chief Superintendent Lordan.  To go back to an 
earlier point, they are some of the more complex investigations, which are led by the national 
unit.  To answer the Deputy’s question, there are ongoing investigations of the type of cases he 
describes.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: I refer specifically to cases where people come into the coun-
try for the purpose of carrying out insurance fraud, that is, staging an accident and making an 
insurance claim.
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Mr. John Twomey: We can provide detail on that.  I am certainly aware of a small number 
of such cases.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Are they being actively investigated?

Mr. John Twomey: Absolutely.  If I may reiterate, when we receive a complaint concern-
ing the commission of a crime we investigate it.  I cannot stress that enough.  We are intent on 
removing people who commit any type of fraud.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: How difficult is it to get a conviction?

Mr. John Twomey: I am not sure it is possible to answer that question because every case 
is different.  The evidence in some cases is stronger than in others.  The witnesses in some cases 
are better than in others.  Evidence will still be available to us if a case is international.  We have 
very good relationships through Interpol and Europol.  We use those mechanisms to provide 
evidence to enable prosecutions on a daily basis.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: I wish to ask about the divisional-led approach.  In his opening 
statement, Mr. Twomey said it is being trialled as part of four divisional policing model pilots.  
How many divisions are there in the country?

Mr. John Twomey: There are 28.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: This is being trialled in four of them, is that right?

Mr. John Twomey: Yes.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Which four divisions are they?  Is that public knowledge?

Mr. John Twomey: It is.  The divisions concerned are Galway, Mayo, Cork city and Dublin 
metropolitan region south central.  For clarity, we have divisional representatives in all of our 
Garda divisions.  This is an enhanced model we are rolling out to streamline the entire Garda 
division and all the policing activity in it.  Trained personnel are deployed throughout the coun-
try.  This is an enhanced model of policing which we are rolling out.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: I wish to be clear on the structure and hierarchy here.  More 
complex cases are investigated by the national economic crime bureau.  If the crime occurs 
within one of the four areas where the divisional-led approach is being trialled and it does not 
meet that threshold of complexity, it is dealt with at divisional level.

Mr. John Twomey: Yes, with assistance from the national economic crime bureau.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: If a crime occurs within one of the 24 divisional areas where 
the new approach is not being trialled and it does not meet the level of complexity requiring it 
to be dealt with nationally, who investigates it?

Mr. John Twomey: There are three tiers.  The first is the national economic crime bureau.  
The second tier consists of investigations that are slightly more complicated than the basic 
ones.  In those cases, assistance is provided by the national unit.  That assessment is made by 
the detective superintendent we mentioned previously.  The other cases are investigated by the 
detective gardaí in place throughout the country.  Trained personnel are dealing with fraud in-
vestigations throughout the country.  If assistance or more expertise is required, it is provided 
from the national office.
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Deputy  Michael McGrath: Are there gardaí focused exclusively on insurance fraud?

Mr. Pat Lordan: In Cork city there are gardaí dedicated to insurance fraud investigations.  
However, in many other divisions gardaí are not perhaps in an official fraud unit, but they spend 
the majority of their time in it.  Several throughout the country have good cases and successful 
cases.  They are dedicated almost 99% or 100% of the time to fraud investigations.  More and 
more, we are seeing chief superintendents throughout the country dedicating personnel to fraud 
investigations.  As we speak, personnel are travelling up from the country to spend two or three 
weeks - in one case someone is coming for three months - with our unit to gather further infor-
mation and knowledge in order that they can bring it back to their divisions.

I wish to develop what the assistant commissioner, Mr. Twomey, was saying.  We have four 
pilot divisions.  There are trained gardaí in all of the other divisions, not only one or two.  There 
are five, six, seven or eight gardaí trained in most of those divisions.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: If the trial works in the four divisions, is it the intention to roll 
it out to all 28 Garda divisions?

Mr. John Twomey: Yes.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: What is the timeframe?

Mr. John Twomey: We are hoping it will commence before the end of the year.  The con-
clusion time will probably be a little further down the road.  We expect the original pilot scheme 
in the four Garda divisions to be assessed during the third and fourth quarters, with an extended 
roll-out commencing after that.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Have additional resources being provided to back up the new 
divisional-led approach?

Mr. John Twomey: Yes, they have.  In each of the four areas we have streamlined the ad-
ministrative process.  We have provided administrative resources and redeployed several gardaí 
from administrative posts in each of the four areas.  Some of the new recruits coming from the 
Garda College have helped to provide additional resources in front-line policing, especially 
community policing.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: The Garda representatives have said that since October 2018 
a total of 50 reports of potential bogus insurance claims have been referred to the force.  They 
have all been reported by insurance companies.  Is that the case?

Mr. John Twomey: Yes, that is the case.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Are there other channels through which suspected insurance 
fraud cases can make their way to the Garda?

Mr. John Twomey: Individuals can make a compliant if they think they have been affected 
by it.  Fraud-related complaints will come to us from insurance companies or through members 
of the public primarily.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Is there a figure on top of the 50?  The 50 cases were referred 
by companies.

Mr. John Twomey: The 50 cases are specifically related to the topic about which we are 
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talking, that is, exaggerated or false claims.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Or the reports from companies.  Is there a significant further 
figure for reports from the public or other sources?

Mr. John Twomey: We mentioned a figure of in the region of 1,500 other fraud-related 
cases.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: What about insurance fraud?

Mr. John Twomey: The figure of 50 is related to insurance fraud.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: There not many others.  Mr. Twomey is shaking his head.

Mr. John Twomey: No.

Mr. Pat Lordan: There are a few examples of people reporting false claims related to a mo-
bile phone to a company that insures it, but there would not be many.  I am keen to clear up one 
point.  There was a sense from some private businesses that they could not report to the Garda 
in the same way insurance companies could.  At a recent meeting I clarified the matter.  There 
are plans in place to draw up guidelines for other industries to report if they need to report to us.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: When the head of AXA was before the committee last week, 
he told us that the company had achieved savings last year of €90 million in the area of fraud.  
He said it represented approximately 4% or 4.5% of gross written premiums, which is a sub-
stantial figure, but something does not quite match up, given the low number of referrals.  Per-
haps the companies have no confidence that cases can be taken through the system, but that is 
not necessarily the fault of the Garda.  It could be because of the judicial system or the legal 
framework or that the burden of proof is so high.  In any case, there seems to be an extraordi-
nary mismatch between the level of fraud in the market about which the companies are telling 
us and the low level of cases being reported to the Garda.  Does the Garda deputation have any 
observation to make in that regard?

Mr. Pat Lordan: The Deputy hit the nail on the head with his point about the standard of 
proof being difficult for us to reach.  Many of the insurance companies are utilising their exper-
tise in establishing that a claim may be exaggerated or fraudulent but they may not believe that 
they have reached the threshold whereby they need to report it to us.  They may figure they will 
not succeed when they go to the Garda.  Sometimes these cases are four or five years old by the 
time the companies establish that there is fraud.  There may be no CCTV or telephone records.  
They may be relying on someone to talk to us as a witness.  That is difficult to get.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Is it the view of our guests that, in general and on the basis of 
their experience, the actual level of fraud is in excess, perhaps significantly so, of what is being 
reported to the Garda?

Mr. Pat Lordan: This is the case worldwide in the context of the amount of fraud reported 
vis-à-vis the amount committed.  There is a dramatic gap regarding what is reported to the 
Garda or any other police force throughout the world.  In the statistics worldwide, fraud is one 
of the most under-reported crimes.  This is primarily because the level of fraud has increased 
dramatically.  Even in Ireland, the figures for the first three months of this year show an increase 
of 28% in the amount of fraud reported.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: Would the Garda representatives not think that insurance com-
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panies have a vested interested in this area and would like to make an example of those bringing 
fraudulent claims?  Would companies not like those involved to be publicly accused in court 
and eventually convicted of insurance fraud?  Would it not be in the direct financial interest 
of the companies to ensure this happens?  Yet, those companies are referring few cases to the 
Garda.  After last week’s events, I suspect that may change in the period ahead.  They might 
need to look at extra resources in this area because of a sense of obligation to refer more cases 
in the aftermath of this meeting and that which took place last week.  It is difficult to understand 
why they have not done so up to now.

Mr. Pat Lordan: That is difficult to answer.  A threshold is required even to start an investi-
gation never mind getting to the stage of preparing a file for the Director of Public Prosecutions 
and succeeding with a prosecution.  It is difficult for the insurance companies, banks or anyone 
else dealing with the financial world to reach that threshold.

Deputy  Michael McGrath: We look forward to the written response on those outstanding 
points.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: I have a couple of points.  We have touched on how the level of 
fraud is low in terms of what is referred to the Garda.  What percentage of the total number of 
cases with which the Garda deals or investigates on a yearly basis relates to insurance fraud?

Mr. Pat Lordan: It is low.  The figure quoted earlier was approximately 3%.  It is there or 
thereabouts.  However, there are other areas of fraud in the insurance world that we deal with 
as well.  Ghost brokering is prominent at the moment.  This is an area in respect of which we 
deal with insurance companies on a regular basis.  We have dedicated people in our traffic unit 
in Dublin Castle and they are dealing with hundreds of cases of such fraud or ghost brokering.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: Can the Garda representatives explain that?

Mr. Pat Lordan: It is basically where a criminal sets up and pretends to be an insurance 
broker.  He may insure a young man for €500, but he would have obtained the insurance policy 
from a legitimate company by providing false information.  The young man now thinks he is 
insured for €500 but the details provided to obtain that insurance are completely false.  In real-
ity, that driver is in difficulty if he has an accident.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: He thinks because he has a disc that he is okay but that is not 
actually the case.

Mr. Pat Lordan: Another scenario arises where people pay their first instalment and then 
refuse to pay the balance.  They may have only paid two months of a 12-month policy but they 
are driving around with insurance discs on their windscreens.  Numerous investigations in this 
area are being carried out by the insurance companies.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: Does automatic number plate recognition, ANPR, lead to those 
people being caught?

Mr. John Twomey: Yes, we have the ability.  The information can be provided and up-
loaded through our ANPR system and we can identify those drivers whose vehicle insurance 
has lapsed.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: When we discussed motor insurance three years ago, a report 
came to light.  At the time, the ANPR system was relatively new and it was reporting a high 
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number of false positives.  Has the position in that regard improved?

Mr. John Twomey: It has improved.  In the intervening period, the data was removed and 
work has been done on it.  People were changing company every week.  False positives were 
being provided.  The information has improved in recent times.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: How many ANPR vehicles are in place now?

Mr. John Twomey: There are about 110 to 120 vehicles at the moment but it is intended 
that that will increase.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: Those vehicles are positioned on motorways and roads and will 
automatically scan number plates.  There will be checks for insurance and tax.  Is the national 
car test, NCT, also covered?

Mr. John Twomey: The NCT is not covered.  It is primarily tax and insurance.  Those 
vehicles are deployed as part of our roads policing units and primarily focus on road offences.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: If somebody has signed up to a 12-month insurance system and 
but has only paid for two months, the ANPR system will know that that car is uninsured.

Mr. John Twomey: It will know that if the system is properly updated at the back end.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: An Garda Síochána is relying on the insurance companies.

Mr. John Twomey: That is correct and we are relying on the information we have being 
accurate.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: Regarding investigating fraud, if someone becomes aware of 
fraud, what mechanism exists for that person to report that information?  I am referring to the 
case of someone having an insurance claim for a trip or a slip in a nightclub while at the same 
time it is the talk of the town that the same person is going on holidays and bungee jumping.  
Insurance companies use private investigators in some cases like that.  What can an ordinary 
member of the public do in the case of a known insurance fraud?  I accept that quite often no 
one will know about insurance fraud.

Mr. John Twomey: It is the same process as reporting any crime.  The person with infor-
mation would go to a member of An Garda Síochána and make a statement of complaint.  That 
complaint would then be investigated.  We will follow the evidence and investigate whatever 
evidence is provided to us.  We will interview other people and gather evidence in the same way 
that we would investigate any statement of complaint that a crime has been committed.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: The person making that complaint will then be expected to turn up 
in court and make a statement.  That is a reasonably serious deterrent for many people who do 
not want to be caught giving information regarding their neighbours and other people of whom 
they are aware.  There is no mechanism to disclose concerns about somebody anonymously.

Mr. John Twomey: We will always initiate an investigation of a crime on the basis of a 
complaint.  We have to have a statement of complaint.  There are some cases where we have 
become aware of information ourselves.  In those cases we will go and investigate.  Primarily, 
however, the simple method for investigating a complaint involves a complaint being made to 
us.  There are opportunities and times, however, where we will pursue evidence and informa-
tion that we come across ourselves.  A balance needs to be maintained between complaints be-
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ing made to us and anonymous complaints.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: I appreciate that vexatious complaints may have no grounds.  If 
someone is aware of information, however, he or she will often not want other people to be 
aware that a complaint has been made.  The insurance companies have told us about examples, 
and I am sure An Garda Síochána also has examples, of one family being incredibly accident 
prone, to put it mildly.  That could also apply to certain parts of a city or the country being much 
more involved with accidents.  We hear of “Prime Time” type scenarios where 30, 40 or 50 ac-
cidents have been staged by or at least involved one family.  In that case, there is no way for 
people to make complaints without being brought to court.

Mr. John Twomey: That information is available to the insurance companies and they are 
best placed to see those connections across the industry.  Those are some of the investigations 
about which we have been talking.  The day of action in April that we spoke about earlier fo-
cused on some of the very issues to which the Deputy has referred.  The information and da-
tabases the insurance companies have provide the opportunity for those particular cases to be 
notified to An Garda Síochána, and those are the analytics of which I have spoken.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: I will just tease this out a little more.  If an insurance company is 
aware of these things and does not bring that information to An Garda Síochána, is that com-
pany guilty of an offence?  I am referring to the company not bringing the information to An 
Garda Síochána and allowing it to make a judgment concerning how far to go with a complaint.  
If an insurance company has 60,000 claims and rejects 10,000 of them, it has rejected them for 
a reason.  They have been rejected because it does not believe them.  In many instances, the 
people who made them have walked away and lived with it.  The insurance company is aware 
of the situation and has made a decision not to pay out.  The people involved have walked away, 
but should all of the 10,000 claims not go to An Garda Síochána for assessment?  I appreciate 
that there would be an administrative and staff burden, but An Garda Síochána should investi-
gate many more cases of fraud.

Mr. John Twomey: Section 19 is relatively clear in that regard.  If companies are of the 
view that there is a breach, they are obliged to report it to us.  That is the purpose of the sec-
tion.  That is a consideration the insurance companies have to make.  I will flip it the other way 
around and pose the question as to what is the rationale for the companies not forwarding the 
information to An Garda Síochána.  Are they satisfied that the cases are not beyond the thresh-
old set out in section 19?

Senator  Gerry Horkan: My point is that they should.

Chairman: We have only ten minutes left.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: I will conclude on this point.

Chairman: I still have to call Senators Conway-Walsh and Paddy Burke.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: On insurance fraud which accounts for 3% of the total, is it most-
ly concerned with motor insurance or does public liability insurance also form a part of it?  We 
hear of cases involving diligent business owners who are facing claims where someone claims 
to have slipped.  Video footage then appears which shows one friend hitting another in a fight 
and that was how a tooth was knocked out, for example, and all of a sudden the people involved 
in the claim walk away.  Should not all such cases be investigated?
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Mr. John Twomey: It primarily concerns motor insurance, but slips and falls have recently 
begun to become more frequent in the claims reported to us.  It is perhaps related to some of the 
increased media focus on the issue.  People are realising there is a-----

Senator  Gerry Horkan: To conclude on the point, I refer to businesses such as Super-
mac’s, nightclubs, pubs and restaurants which use closed-circuit television, CCTV, footage to 
prove to someone that he or she has no case and he or she has gone away.  Mr. Twomey recom-
mends that these companies should bring that information to An Garda Síochána and state they 
want the person involved to be prosecuted or at least investigated.

Mr. John Twomey: If they in any way believe a crime has been committed, they should 
report it to An Garda Síochána and we will investigate.

Senator  Gerry Horkan: I thank Mr. Twomey.

Senator  Paddy Burke: I welcome Mr. Twomey and Mr. Lordan.  On the reported number 
of fraud cases, is there a percentage breakdown as between the private and public sectors?  Are 
the majority of cases in the public sector?

Mr. Pat Lordan: The majority of reports we receive are from private sector insurance 
companies.

Senator  Paddy Burke: Many insurance claims are made against local authorities and vari-
ous other Government agencies in the public sector.

Mr. Pat Lordan: The majority are received from the private sector.

Senator  Paddy Burke: Would Mr. Twomey say the percentage is 80%:20%, 60%:40%, or 
does he have no idea?

Mr. Pat Lordan: There are very few reports received from the public sector.

Senator  Paddy Burke: CCTV cameras play a bigger role in a case where someone falls 
on a footpath, for example.  Is it the case that there is a payout in those instances?  Perhaps Mr. 
Twomey might not know the answer.

Mr. Pat Lordan: We have received very few reports.  The ones we have received are being 
progressed.  One of the cases that is ongoing in my bureau is very complicated and the report 
was received from the public sector.  However, we do not see that many reports from the public 
sector.

Senator  Paddy Burke: Mr. Twomey thinks the public sector is not as diligent in reporting 
suspected cases of fraud.  Does he think more could be done-----

Mr. Pat Lordan: I will not comment because I do not know enough about those cases.  We 
do not see the details of cases that are settled or those that go to court.  The one thing about 
CCTV footage is that if a person trips or falls and he or she states he or she has hurt his or her 
leg, unless he or she does something to make a claim, the incident will not reach the stage of 
prosecution.  The person has to progress to putting in a claim or doing something to make the 
effort.  Often, if it is called out at a very early stage, one is left with a scenario where a person 
states that he tripped on the footpath but actually he may have had a few drinks, tripped on the 
footpath and then walked away.  The person will not have made an affidavit, a statement or a 
complaint at that stage.  Some of those are quite difficult.  The Senator is better off addressing 
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that to the public sector in order to see what it has to say.

Senator  Paddy Burke: In any event, is Mr. Lordan saying that there are very few claims 
made by the public sector that are fraudulent?

Mr. Pat Lordan: Very few.

Senator  Paddy Burke: Do dashboard and CCTV cameras play a big role in exposing the 
fraud that takes place?

Mr. Pat Lordan: Not really.  The majority of these cases are not even reported to the 
Garda when the accident occurs.  It is reported, maybe as a minor accident, and then a couple 
of months later the five or six claims are submitted to the insurance company.  In most of these 
cases, there is no camera because it will be the culprit’s car.  If the driver is working together 
with another party, they will make sure that they do not have any cameras in their cars.  They 
will also make sure that the accidents will not occur where there is any CCTV.  Historically, 
they were not as good at that.  Operation Nascar in Cork covered that fairly well but now we 
find that they are careful about selecting the location of where they will have their accidents.

Senator  Paddy Burke: Finally, I suppose forgery, which is a separate matter, is fraud as 
well.  Are there many cases of forgery?  How do they progress to the courts or how does the 
Garda follow up on cases of forgery?

Mr. Pat Lordan: The one we see quite a lot of is bogus or forged no-claims bonus certifi-
cates.  We are seeing quite a substantial number of those being reported and motorists are being 
prosecuted for having these certificates.

Senator  Paddy Burke: Is it the driver with the disc who will be sued for the forged-----

Mr. Pat Lordan: Sorry, the Senator is talking about a forged disc.

Senator  Paddy Burke: Yes.

Mr. Pat Lordan: There would be quite a substantial number of prosecutions in respect of 
forged tax discs and forged insurance discs.

Senator  Paddy Burke: Are there many cases involving forged bank notes?

Mr. Pat Lordan: Yes.  We had a case at the weekend where a substantial amount of forged 
money was recovered in a house.  There is quite a lot of forged money still going around the 
European Union.

Senator  Paddy Burke: Recently, I was in a bank where the machine gave out a forged €50 
note.  When the customer tried to deposit it into another account through the machine, it reject-
ed the note.  I suppose the customer must go through a rigmarole of reporting to the Garda and 
to the bank.  At the end of the day, would the bank not take responsibility for that?  Even though 
its machine gave out the money, the bank refused to allow it to be deposited in another account.

Mr. Pat Lordan: I am not sure what the circumstances of the withdrawal were.  We see 
several notes coming into our office every week from all different parts of the country and we 
return them to the Central Bank.  I cannot comment on the individual case the Senator is talking 
about because I do not know enough about it.

Senator  Paddy Burke: Would the bank have to own up as well?  The bank, although not 
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complicit, gave the note out in this case.

Mr. Pat Lordan: It may be as simple as that the previous customer handed in €50 to the 
bank over the counter and it handed the note out to the next customer.  The bank may have 
known nothing about it.

Senator  Paddy Burke: I presume it will not be held responsible.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: I thank our guests for their presentation on behalf of the 
Garda.  I have just a couple of questions.  In October 2018, PULSE was updated and insurance 
fraud was then categorised.  What was the classification before then?

Mr. Pat Lordan: Before that, all frauds across the spectrum were recorded as deception or 
theft other.  They were going into different categories of theft and fraud.  Basically, we saw an 
increase in the different areas of fraud, one being insurance fraud.  There are many other areas.  
These include: the letting of properties, bogus collectors, romance fraud, invoice redirect and 
business email compromise.  We have set up a separate drop-down menu on the PULSE system 
for those.  There are now more than 20 categories on the PULSE system and insurance fraud is 
one of them.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: There is reference to economic crime.  How is economic 
crime defined?

Mr. Pat Lordan: It all comes under fraud and economic crime.  That is the heading for all 
fraud.  The different types of crime under fraud and economic crime are broken down into more 
than 20 categories.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: In determining the increase or decrease in insurance fraud, 
do we not have any empirical data from before 2018?

Mr. Pat Lordan: It was very difficult to pull the statistics.  It is important to note that there 
is no such offence under law as insurance fraud.  That still creates problems for us.  Insurance 
fraud is not a specific offence under the legislation.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: Does Mr. Lordan believe it needs to be made an offence?

Mr. Pat Lordan: No.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: If the absence of an offence of insurance fraud creates dif-
ficulty for the Garda, it would obviously need to be classed as a crime.

Mr. Pat Lordan: It is covered well under the legislation in place.  There is not a specific 
offence for all the different types of crimes that exist under financial crime.  Otherwise, given 
the way criminals think, we would have to add a new type of crime every couple of weeks.  For 
example, romance fraud, which is quite new on the spectrum of crimes, is not a stand-alone of-
fence.  In most cases, the person will be charged under the theft and fraud offences.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: These offences are all categorised now and the Garda has 
been able to measure and monitor them since 2018.

Mr. Pat Lordan: Yes.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: The witnesses referred to the pilot projects, one of which 
is in County Mayo.  How would an insurance company report insurance fraud differently under 
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one of these projects?  Will the witnesses would talk me through the steps involved?

Mr. John Twomey: In essence, we have tried to make the policing operation in a Garda 
division more efficient.  In the Mayo division, we have a specific administrative unit.  There is 
a team of people who look after all the administrative work and that has resulted in a number of 
members of An Garda Síochána being redeployed to front-line policing.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: To clarify, where is this administrative work done?  Is the 
team in Castlebar?

Mr. John Twomey: Yes. 

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: There is an administrative team there dealing with insur-
ance fraud only.

Mr. John Twomey: No.  They are dealing with administration.  There are a number of areas 
that the revised divisional policing model has focused on.  It has streamlined the administra-
tive process to free up gardaí to be redeployed to the front line.  It has also streamlined the 
investigation of serious crime.  There is now a detective superintendent in that area who has 
responsibility for the investigation of serious crime.  Heretofore, that crime was investigated by 
each of the individual superintendents.  Now, the more serious crime is allocated to a detective 
superintendent who co-ordinates the investigation.  That enables the district officer to focus on 
providing the front-line response service to local communities.  It is making the whole process 
within the community more efficient.  As part of that, the resources are reporting to the detec-
tive superintendent.  Additional training is being provided from the Garda National Economic 
Crime Bureau with that support coming from the centre.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: It is not particular to insurance fraud.

Mr. John Twomey: It is policing generally but some of the efficiencies should be felt in 
terms of greater time becoming available to investigate these and other issues.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: How long has the pilot project been running?

Mr. John Twomey: It has been running since February of this year.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: Is it too soon to tell what the outcomes are?

Mr. John Twomey: Yes.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: In terms of the training that is being done, what does that 
constitute?  For example, for how long will a garda or sergeant be trained in insurance fraud?

Mr. John Twomey: Every detective garda and sergeant will get specific training on his or 
her detective duties and the investigation of all serious crime.  In the area of fraud, 132 mem-
bers have completed their training and another 50 members will be trained this year.  They get 
enhanced training in the area of fraud investigation.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: For how many days does the training last?

Mr. John Twomey: That is a week-long training programme.  I am open to correction on 
that.  

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: With regard to competing resources, the court is trying to 
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take insurance fraud more seriously.  Are additional resources ring-fenced?  Is this taking away 
from community policing and other areas where policing is needed?

Mr. John Twomey: Invariably it will be detectives – plain-clothes gardaí — who will work 
on the insurance-related fraud.  Uniformed gardaí are ring-fenced and deployed for community 
policing.  The intention is that it will not take away from the overt policing.

As we outlined earlier, it is demand-led.  In areas such as Cork, there is a dedicated unit to 
investigate fraud, such is the demand there.  In other areas, such is the demand that it is believed 
there are sufficient resources to investigate without having to dedicate people full time.  It varies 
from case to case and in every Garda division.  It varies dependent on the demand.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: Why did the Garda pick Mayo for the pilot project?

Mr. John Twomey: We picked four different areas.  We believe the four combined give us a 
proper review of all the demands in Ireland.  We have an urban centre in the south inner city in 
Dublin.  We have the rural area in Mayo.  Galway gives us the urban–rural mix, and Cork city 
gives us the smaller urban centre.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: When will the pilot project be completed?

Mr. John Twomey: We do not believe it will be completed; we believe it will be rolled out 
nationally.  What we are doing at present is evaluating and learning lessons.  We have learned 
some very valuable lessons, even in this short period, so we believe this model will be rolled 
out in the future.  We are just determining what we have learned over the first couple of months.  
The intention is that, commencing around the end of this year, the model currently in place in 
the four divisions will be rolled out to the rest of the Garda divisions.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: Does Mr. Twomey believe the Garda is very late in the day 
coming to this in respect of insurance fraud?

Mr. John Twomey: I spoke earlier about the demand and the work we do with the insur-
ance companies.  We have a protocol in place with them.  We have a liaison officer in place 
with them.  We are investigating any investigation reported to us.  I am not sure I agree with the 
sentiment that we are coming to this too late, or anything like that.

Senator  Rose Conway-Walsh: The numbers are very small.  I suggest that insurance fraud 
be put on the agenda of all the joint policing committees.  New committees will be starting up 
following the local authority elections.  Putting insurance fraud on the agenda would be good 
for raising awareness and encouraging people to report it.  It would let people know what the 
Garda are doing about it and what to expect if they report it.

Chairman: Is that a suggestion?

Mr. John Twomey: Yes.

Chairman: Mr. Twomey might let us know before he leaves whether figures or information 
on fraud by banks are available.  We have come through a pretty turbulent time with our banks 
and other financial institutions.  Has any fraud been reported in the context of bank activity 
itself or that of financial institutions?  If so, are there any cases ongoing?  Mr. Twomey may 
respond to those questions in writing because we are caught for time.

I thank the witnesses for attending.  The meeting has been very informative.  I thank mem-
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bers for their co-operation.

The joint committee adjourned at 3.55 p.m. until 10 a.m. on Thursday, 11 July 2019.


